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The Story Of The Car Park 

 In Several Chapters 
 

By Cllr Ian Smith  

& Debs Smith 

 

In recent years ownership of the land which is now the shopper’s car park on St Marys 
Road has come into question and previous councils have tried and failed to establish 
ownership as the process has been so time consuming and the information not readily 
available.  

Both Cllr Ian Smith and his wife Debs took up the challenge of proving ownership given 
by our solicitor earlier in the year and over the last few months have spent many hours 
over several visits researching the archives looking for evidence that would prove 
definitively that the land was purchased by and is owned by Tickhill Town Council.  

They have photographed, documented and catalogued all the evidence available in the 
archives and from these, produced the following document which has been sent to our 
solicitors. It is to be noted that several minutes are missing from the archives, 
explanations of this are in the document.  
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The Story Of The Car Park In Several Chapters 

We worked through all the TTC minutes in the Doncaster archives, which included a limited set from before the conversion 
from an Urban District Council to a subordinate body of Doncaster MBC. We photographed every reference we could find 
to the area of land now occupied by the carpark and any reference to the Village/Community Hall project. These 
references covered many years but was just drawing towards a useful conclusion when we reached the last set of archived 
minutes.  The crucial period was not included in the set we had access to.   

The minutes that contain the relevant part of the story are either: 

• Stored in the Doncaster archives but not correctly/usefully indexed. 
• Stored somewhere in the Tickhill Pavilion 
• Lost/destroyed 
• Held by a previous member of the Council or an ex-employee of the Council 
• Held by Tickhill History Society 

These minutes do cover the “interesting” period of the Council where there was something of an unexpected ousting of the 
council that were planning to build a Community Hall where the car park now resides and there was a considerable 
amount of ill feeling felt by the various parties involved.  Whether the absence of the minutes has anything to do with this is 
unknown, but we can’t currently locate the minutes that relate to the tenure of the Tickhill Ratepayer’s Alliance.  

We had planned to do further digging and asked the archivist for suggestions when she remembered a second box that 
related specifically to the Community Hall project.  By this time, it was late in the day so we took the box and worked 
through it at some speed but I’m confident we have photographs of everything that is relevant to ownership of the carpark.  

Frustratingly, the box contained a useful summary of all the references to the Community Hall project which made the 
earlier search through the minutes largely unnecessary.  We did not find any reference to the missing minutes but a second 
visit to the archives may yet unearth them if required. 

The remainder of this document is organised thus: 

1. The summary of the history of the Community Hall project 
2. The Purchase documents and related plans 
3. Copies of the relevant sections of communications, minutes etc. related to the Community Hall Project 
4. OS 25 inch map fragment from around 1900 (for reference to show old building/plot locations) 
5. Some background information from Tickhill History Society 

We have copies of all the relevant sections of the minutes we could find but these are not included to keep the document 
size manageable.  As far as we can ascertain, all these sections are echoed in the two summaries in section 1.  

There is one aspect of this investigation that is still unresolved.  There were rumours of nine parcels of land being involved.  
We have found three land purchases that account for the full area of the car park.  Two of these are from businesses 
trading in Tickhill but the third was from the then DMBC.   

We had considered that this land had been bought by Tickhill UDC, prior to the transfer of powers and property to DMBC, 
possibly in a number of small purchases, but we could find no record of Tickhill UDC acquiring the land:   

(a) we have found no record of this at Doncaster Archives,  

(b) the Tickhill History Society report on Tickhill UDC post war activities do not mention it (although they do mention land 
acquired elsewhere for housing) and  

(c) the timings are odd – after Tickhill transitioned to a Parish Council, plans were still in hand to acquire the old Tickhill 
School building so there is no reason for Tickhill UDC to acquire (and subsequently pass to DMBC) this strip of land.   

For now it will have to remain a mystery but in 1983 DMBC were sufficiently convinced that they owned the land to sell it to 
Tickhill Town Council for 12,000 GBP.  One final note – the sales documents for the other two parcels of land held notes on 
the original owners of the land before the businesses acquired them.  The DMBC documents are oddly silent on this 
matter! 

Ian and Deb Smith 
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The History of the Community Hall 

 

 



P a g e  | 4 

 

 

 



P a g e  | 5 

 

 

 



P a g e  | 6 

A second history of the Project 
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A third, partial, history of the project. 
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The Purchase Orders and Related Plans/Drawings 

1. Community Centre Outline Proposal and Related Map 
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Enlargement: 
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2. Purchase Of Land from the National Westminster Bank 

 

  



P a g e  | 20 

 

 

  



P a g e  | 21 

 

  



P a g e  | 22 

 

  



P a g e  | 23 

 

  



P a g e  | 24 

 

 



P a g e  | 25 

 

 

  



P a g e  | 26 

3. Purchase Of Land from Courage Ltd. 
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4. Purchase Of Land from Courage Ltd. 
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5. Additional Documents Related to the Project as a Whole or Early Negotiations with Vendors 

Note:  The documents in the box were in some disarray and not sorted in any particularly useful manner 
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How the documents are stored in the archives, should anyone want to find them: 
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Ordnance Survey 25 inch to the mile map from 1892-1914 
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Report about the old Tickhill School hosted on the Tickhill History Society website: 

https://www.tickhillhistorysociety.org.uk/preservation-of-buildings 

Preservation of Buildings 

The Preservation of Buildings in Tickhill 

Sometimes historic buildings in the community are no longer needed for the purpose for which they were 
originally built. Sometimes these buildings can be adapted for newer purposes and saved, as happened with 
Tickhill’s Parish Room, built as a hospital or almshouse in 1478. In contrast, another old building, the National 
School on St Mary’s Road, later Tickhill’s Church of England Junior School, has been demolished. Here is an 
account of how attempts were made in 1975 to save the building to use it as a Further Education Centre. 

Towards the end of the report written by Philip Mottram, reference is made to Drawings A to D. These plans of 
the building, drawn by surveyor Robert Fieldhouse, are now in Tickhill & District Local History Society’s archive. 

HISTORY OF A LOST OPPORTUNITY 

By Philip Mottram 

As the population of Tickhill began to grow in the 1970s it became clear that there would need to be an increase 
in schooling capacity to serve the growing number of children in the town. 

It was in January 1975 when I received a letter from Mr J H Higgins, Area Head of the Vermuyden Institute of 
Further Education based in Rossington. He wrote to inform me that the new DMBC Local Education Authority 
was planning to pull down the old Tickhill C of E Junior School after the last children had been rehoused in the 
new addition then being built to the new Junior School. He believed that the building should be retained as a 
Further Education Centre with full community use. He felt that Tickhill residents should fight for its retention. 
The small Environmental Group of which I was then a member agreed, and we resolved to try to do something 
about it. 

The case put forward by Mr Higgins was convincing: 

• Demolition would cost money that would be better spent refurbishing the old building. 
• Tickhill had no secondary school which could house F E classes 
• Using a junior school would mean adults using small chairs and tables 
• There is a lack of a community building and accommodation for holding daytime classes for Senior 

Citizens or for Play Groups 
• He already had spare equipment that could be transferred to Tickhill 

We were urged to lobby local councillors and the Director of Education. 

On behalf of the Tickhill Conservation Group, I wrote to Mr Crompton, the Deputy Director of Education on 18 
January 1975 expressing grave concern. In particular, I asked for an assurance that no demolition would take 
place without ample notice being given to Tickhill Organisations, that there would be a full explanation for the 
decision and I formally registered the view that the building should be used for combined Further Education and 
Community purposes. I reported that many Tickhill residents had commented that the building was originally 
paid for by public subscriptions and they feel that this gives them rights to object to premature demolition. 

The Tickhill Town Council’s Environmental Advisory Committee met on 4 March 1975. The Minutes of that 
meeting record a report on behalf of a sub-committee, given by a Mrs Haslam. They had visited the school on 13 
February and emphasised that this was the report of a visual inspection by lay people without any specialised 
knowledge. They were considering whether the building could be used as a Community Centre. 
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The Report made the following points: 

• The outside of the building would need some pointing and small repairs 
• There were 5 classrooms, two small cloakrooms but no internal toilet facilities 
• A kitchen and toilets would be needed for a Community Centre 
• The heating system was old fashioned and inadequate 
• Whilst the building could be useful it could not take the place of a purpose-built Community Centre 
• The proposed £7.000 cost of demolition might well go towards the cost of alterations. 
• A technical expert should be asked for an opinion 
• The building should not be demolished 

The Clerk to the Council commented that a request for an independent report would surely be resisted. 

The Town Council had urged the Education Authority to retain the building, it has not asked for sole use as a 
Community Centre because in that case the first offer would have to be made to the former owner, Lord 
Scarbrough. A compromise would be to keep the building as a Further Education Centre. 

It was recommended that: 

1. The old school should be refurbished and used as much as possible for Further Education and 
Community Centre use. 

2. A detailed collation of information from all organisations in Tickhill was required. The sub-committee 
was authorised to send out questionnaires. 

Twenty-six questionnaires were sent out and sixteen replies were received. 

• 8 Groups would require regular use 
• 8 Groups would require casual use 
• 6 Groups stated their support for the provision of such a facility 
• 10 Groups did not reply 
• 2 Groups expressed no interest in the project. 

On 25 September 1975 a letter from the Director of Education (M J Pass) enclosed copies of two sets of 
Minutes. The first referred to a meeting on 11 June when Mr S Beresford had attended in my place. The main 
points recorded were: 

• The former architect to the West Riding had concluded that the building had reached the end of its life 
and that two years ago repair costs had been £35,000 and future maintenance costs would be 
substantial. 

• The DMBC Chief Architect said the useful life might be up to 10 to 15 years and costs for minimum 
repairs would be £20,000 excluding a new heating system 

• The provision of the new school had been on the understanding that the former premises would be 
dismantled. 

• The joint site for the two new schools will be deficient in playground area by 1.6 acres and beneath 
minimum statutory requirements and parking would reduce the area further. 

• At the proposed new Middle school on Common Lane there would be room for extension to provide 
community provision. 

Local representatives made clear the need for community facilities. 

It was suggested that a local committee be set up to liaise with the Education Department. 

On 24 July I sent the following comments to Mr Pass: 

• The 11 June meeting was held at an inconvenient time for working people and so proper consultation 
had not taken place 

• Members of Tickhill Town Council were not invited. 
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(On 22 July the Yorkshire Evening Post newspaper printed a letter of apology from Mr Pass admitting that 
relevant correspondence from Tickhill Town Council had been overlooked) 

• Mr Hare of the Ratepayers Association had not been in the chair, as stated. 
• Many present felt that the tone of the meeting was not sufficiently concerned with an open investigation 

but rather that demolition was a foregone conclusion. The main theme seemed to be to persuade Tickhill 
to drop their concern for the old school and divert attention to provision of a new community centre in 
the distant future. 

It was concluded that proper public consultation had not taken place. The following course of action was 
proposed: 

• The authority to guarantee no precipitate action 
• Tickhill Town Council be empowered to carry out its own investigation 
• The Authority to cooperate fully by providing access, information and professional advice. 
• The premises to be maintained for a reasonable period while investigations took place. 

The second set of Minutes concerned a meeting on 3 September 1975. It was reported that an additional 
meeting had been called because of a request from Tickhill Town Council who had not been represented at the 
previous meeting. 

After full discussion of the background, local representatives put forward reasons for asking for the premises to 
be kept for Further Education and reported 16 organisations already requiring use of the premises. 

It was clearly stated that the requirement was for Further Education and not community use. It was confirmed 
that the Common Lane School would be started early in in the financial year starting in April 1976 and that the 
plan provided for the possibility of further education provisions although no finance was available. 

There were no financial resources within existing budgets. 

A Town Council sub-committee should look into the possible development of the premises and produce a 
report. 

Sub-committee Report: 

The Town Council nominated Cllr. D. C. Miller to lead a small Working Party. Other members were: 

Mr R Fieldhouse (Surveyor), Mrs J Wilcox and Mr P. Mottram. The Working Party examined the premises and 
concluded that: 

• Deterioration of the fabric was not serious and could readily be made good. 
• The accommodation was basically suitable for Further Education use. 
• Suitable improvements could probably be made at moderate cost. Accordingly an outline specification 

was prepared based on probable needs of an F.E. Centre. 

The existing premises were measured and, with the assistance of an old plan of the school a drawing was 
prepared showing Plan, Elevations and Sections of the existing building (See Drawing A.) Using the outline 
specification, two possible layouts were produced and one was selected as the preferred scheme ( See Drawing 
B.) 

The Working party felt that this scheme fully exploited the potential of the premises. However, recognising that 
there are currently financial constraints on Local Authority expenditure, it was decided to critically examine the 
scheme and to eliminate those elements which could be dispensed with initially. The resulting modified scheme 
is shown on Drawing C. 

A further Drawing D was prepared showing car parking spaces for 25 vehicles. 
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Both schemes B and C were then costed using a combination of actual estimates from local contractors and 
realistic budget estimates. 

The cost of modified scheme C was estimated to be £9,000 to include: 

• External repairs to the fabric, including roof repairs, guttering and window frames. 
• Internal alterations including toilets partitions, plastering, plumbing etc 
• Formation of a small kitchen including cooker and fittings. 
• Gas fired central heating 
• Electrical work 
• Damp proofing by silicone injection 
• External drainage from toilets 
• Internal decorations 
• Opening in N. boundary wall for access to carpark and tarmac repairs. 

As soon as conditions would allow the modified scheme should be uprated to the preferred scheme B to 
include: 

• Extensions for toilets, dressing rooms etc 
• Partitions and suspended ceilings for classrooms. 
• Formation of corridors etc. 

The cost of these improvements was estimated to be a further £10,000. 

The Report recommended that to arrest deterioration and to provide an urgently needed Further Education 
facility for Tickhill that the above schemes should be adopted. 

Doncaster MBC did not adopt these recommendations. 

Truly a lost opportunity 

Thirty-two years later the area is still not being used as playground for the school and proposals to use the 
space as an extra public car park have not been accepted on the grounds that the Education Department had 
plans for its use. 

Nor has Estfeld School on Common Lane been given any extensions for use as a Community Centre as hinted at 
the time. 

Tickhill Town Council’s proposals in 1986 for a Community Centre on what is now the St Mary‘s Road Car Park 
were rejected by a ballot of townspeople. 

Philip Mottram 
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Some background on Tickhill UDC from John Hoare and the Tickhill History Society. 

https://www.tickhillhistorysociety.org.uk/tickhill-urban-district-council-1946-1974 

Tickhill Urban District Council 1946-1974 

At the end of the war the Council was concerned at the lack of information about the site of a new school, 

clearly intended to provide for secondary age pupil formerly educated in the town. They sought clarification 

from the Divisional Education Officer, as they had not been consulted. There appear to have been two 

alternatives, Maltby and Bawtry, with the former evidently the final choice. 

Many issues remained the same as before the war. Discussions about the future of local government, 

conversion of privies, the lodging house in Sunderland Street, the library, drains and sewerage, repairs to 

local roads and footpaths, complaints about bus services (especially the Saturday service to Doncaster when 

“buses were still full on arrival in Tickhill” – East Midlands service – and the lack of connection between 

Harworth-Maltby and Maltby-Sheffield services – Rotherham Corporation), some things never change! 

The new preoccupation, a dominant feature of the Council’s work right through to 1972, was housing, where 

local responsibility for adequate provision became vital in the post-war years. In 1948 a priority list of 

applicants for new council houses was drawn up, containing 2 agricultural workers, 14 colliery and 14 

general. The following year the Ministry of Housing and Local Government accused the Council of having 

insufficient housing land for the next 18 months and insufficient properties to meet need; the Council sent its 

(unspecified) proposals in reply. When there was further government pressure, both sides accused the other 

of causing the delay! The record, however, is impressive. In 1950 16 bungalows were completed and 

authority sought to build 22 houses on a Sunderland Street site – they cost about £30,000. At the rent review 

in 1951, the Council held 8 houses in Rawson Road, 8 in Pinfold Lane, 48 in King Edward Road, 44 in 

Crown Road, 11 in Doncaster Road, along with 24 bungalows on two sites at either end of Wong Lane. 

In 1951 an offer was made for land in Worksop Road. In 1954 16 new flats were let in Doncaster Road and 

4 flats were to be erected on opposite sides of Westgate where unfit properties were demolished. In 1955 it 

was proposed to purchase and upgrade Vine Terrace, which the MHLG agreed to the following year. 

Notices continued to be served on owners of unfit properties regularly, for example 19 at one sitting in 1958 

with the outcome either a promise to improve speedily or a demolition order. 

Consent was sought to build 6 one-bedroom bungalows in Vine Road in 1960. By the end of 1961 the 

Council owned 257 houses, with a further 20 being built, one-third of the houses in the area. The MHLG 

said this was “getting out of proportion” so more stringent conditions were imposed on the waiting list, 

effectively only providing for displacement from unfit properties and OAPs. However, properties were also 

built for sale and sold to tenants. In 1962 12 new properties were built for sale in Walnut Avenue and 8 for 

rent in Beech Avenue, as well as 26 new bungalows. The Castle Close development of bungalows with a 

community centre was opened in 1964. The Trustees of Maison de Dieu asked the Council for aid to rebuild 

the almshouses in 1964, which was refused, but the site was acquired and the homes reconstructed by the 

Council by 1966.1 The provision of housing was arguably the greatest achievement of the UDC. 

There was, of course, much else. Hackney Carriage licences and the making of accompanying bye-laws 

arose in 1947-48. Following the establishment of the National Health Service, there were discussions about 

the Home Nursing Service. In 1949 the basis was agreed for local authorities in the Doncaster area to share 

the costs of a crematorium at Rosehill, Doncaster. The destruction of rats is periodically referred to in the 

minutes. Problems with the Mill Dam surfaced in 1954 when the Council considered taking over 

responsibility although the Duchy was reluctant to relinquish its rights, while Lord Scarbrough objected to 

contributing money when the cause of the deposits was primarily Maltby Colliery. The Council instructed its 

Surveyor to empty the Dam and called a meeting of all parties!  In the last years of the UDC the Mill Dam 

appears an issue again until it was agreed to provide an automatic shuttle and improve the sluice gates. 

Stream pollution was a regular problem, such that in 1955 a meeting was called with Worksop RDC, the 

National Coal Board and the Trent River Board; typically the outcome is not reported. 

https://www.tickhillhistorysociety.org.uk/tickhill-urban-district-council-1946-1974
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A royal visit spurred the Council to action in 1948 when the royal party were to travel from Bawtry to 

Sandbeck in the morning and then from Sandbeck to Doncaster; the public were asked to decorate their 

houses, the Council adorned the Cross and the Library and the school children were to cheer in the Market 

Place. 

There are occasional domestic references to the Council’s own affairs. A duplicator was purchased for the 

Clerk in 1949. In 1953 the Library was extended and public conveniences built behind it.  All meetings were 

held in the Library until January 1961. The following month, without explanation, the meeting was in the 

Council Chamber. There appears to have been some crisis with regard to the Library, as the County Council 

indicated late in 1962 its willingness to provide premises and run a library and a committee was set up in 

January 1963 to consider the future of the Library, which had many regular lettings such as the youth club 

and the Ratepayers’ Association. In 1968 it is called the “Old Library” and a trustee arrangement jointly 

with the County Council was discussed so as to support the youth club meeting there. 

 Planning decisions continued throughout the period, with delegated powers from the County following the 

1947 Town and Country Planning Act. These vary from the trivial, like the refusal of a garden hut on the 

grounds that the owner had already sufficient accommodation to house building projects, like those of Ben 

Bailey either side of Sunderland Street around 1970. “Representations” were made to the County on its 

plans in 1950 with regard to the inclusion of buildings of historic interest (none had been included in the 

County Survey!) and concern over the line for the Doncaster by-pass (it should “clear the sewage works”!). 

When a Village Plan was drafted by the County in 1967, the Council asked for the inclusion of a list of open 

spaces, the deletion of two proposed new roads and the extension of the graveyard. In 1969 a Tickhill 

Conservation Area was proposed. 

Highway issues were mostly a question of repairs. However, there are occasional references to speed. In 

1959 complaints about speeding vehicles in Sunderland Street led to a response from the Assistant 

Divisional Surveyor that he didn’t think that additional signs would make much difference but the police did 

agree to take the necessary action against offenders. In August 1960 a serious accident at the Cross was 

reported leading to a meeting with the County Surveyor and Police to discuss “the dangerous situation in the 

town generally … owing to the increase in traffic”. Discussion followed about the construction of pedestrian 

refuges and new signs and white lines. In 1967 a new traffic system was instituted around the Butter Cross 

(the first reference to the Cross so named), and regarded favourably by the Council.  Small issues also arose, 

such as a complaint about parking on a grass verge in Westgate, this as early as 1955. 

As late as 1963 there were complaints by residents of St. Mary’s Road about pigs at Northgate Farm. Within 

a few years the farm was reported as derelict. 

Local government reorganisation reared its ugly head again with a County Review in 1963 when the Council 

defended itself strongly; “Tickhill was better administered by its own authority”. It was resolved to resist 

any proposal to change the town’s status. By 1971 the writing was on the wall when the Council resolved to 

“propose as essential that a Local council (with Statutory powers) be formulated in Tickhill when the new 

structure was finalised “. 

The Council was active to the end. Its last year’s activity included road safety, planning new dwellings on 

the residue of the Walnut and Beech Avenue land, travel concessions, lettings, tackling damage to trees, 

dealing with planning applications, path diversions, new street lighting and work on the Castlegate sewage 

scheme. 

At the final meeting on 26 March 1974, the Chairman, Cllr W A Hill, reflected on his 39 years of 

membership of the UDC. During his time, no councillor had received any payment by way of expenses. 

When he joined there was no running water to dwellings; now it was laid on to houses across the town. The 

staff were thanked for their loyal service. 
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An era when local government really was local had come to an end. The Urban District Council had powers 

in health (drainage and sewage, services of a Medical Officer of Health, inspection of properties for fitness 

for use, inspection of slaughter houses and bakeries, milk and dairies), education (provision of public 

library), highway (maintenance of all streets, paving, street lighting, naming and numbering, cleansing), 

parks and recreation grounds (buying and managing land for these purposes) and allotments (providing a 

sufficient supply). Add in the growth of housing and planning responsibilities and the breadth of the 

Council’s work was comprehensive. The record shows that it was performed conscientiously and with 

distinction. 

John Hoare - 2014 

 

1 The Maison Dieu Trustees’ minutes say that the old almshouses were demolished in 1967 but that 6 new 

bungalows were not completed until 1973 - the date on the plaque at the end of the bungalows.   H Moffat 
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The Final Chapte 

 Tickhill Council Minutes 

Related to the Community Hall/Car Park. 

Minutes turn into hours… 
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